1981

Hope H. Openshaw v. Richard Creed Openshaw : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant-Respondent petitioned below for a Modification of the Support and Income Tax Deduction Provisions of a Divorce Decree.

DISPOSITION BELOW

The Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, District Judge, granted Defendant a reduction in the support requirements for his two sons, and allowed Defendant one child as a deduction for tax purposes.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Plaintiff-Appellant seeks a reversal of the Order of Modification and re-instatement of the Divorce Decree Provisions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties are referred to as they appeared below.

As evidenced by the Transcript herein, the "Hearing" of Defendant's Petition to Modify the Decree was limited by the Honorable Judge Rigtrup to an informal conference with the Attorneys, followed by a reported argument of Counsel, with the parties present. No sworn testimony was taken.

The only evidence was the introduction of a Monthly Expense and Income Statement from each party. Based on the foregoing, Judge Rigtrup reduced Defendant's support obligation for his two minor sons, age 11 and 8 at the time the divorce Complaint was filed (September 20, 1976 R-4), and ages 15 and 11 at the Modification Hearing (March 14, 1980).

The Defendant's income at the time of the Decree was \$475.00 take-home pay (R-28, Par. 7, Findings of Fact). He was ordered to pay \$100.00 per child support until his income increased to \$800.00 per month take-home, at which time he was ordered to pay \$200.00 per child, or \$400.00 per month.

In October, 1978, Defendant secured employment paying \$1,209.46 net (R-73), but did not so report to Plaintiff's Attorney (required by the Decree (R-32, Par. F.)), and Plaintiff secured a Judgment for support in arrears in the amount of \$1200.00 (R-79), for the six months Defendant had secreted his income from Plaintiff.

The Plaintiff was awarded \$1.00 per year alimony in the Decree. She had not worked outside the home for several years.

and was therefore forced to seek and secure employment to

She worked her way up the ladder by securing employment, through successive employers, until at the time of the Modification Hearing, she was employed by a medical clinic (Answers to Interrogatories R-69).

Although the Defendant was ordered in the Decree to hold Plaintiff harmless from a Third Mortgage on her home to Murray First Thrift & Loan Co, (R-32 Pag. D), she was forced to sell that home to avoid foreclosure proceedings by them (R-70, Pag. 10, Answers to Interrogatories). As a result of Defendant's failure to so hold her harmless, Plaintiff was required to secure another dwelling, with increased monthly payments.

The Defendant had re-married and assigned his increased expenses of that marriage, including the costs of support for a step-daughter, as the change of circumstances entitling him to a reduction in support, with which the Honorable Judge Rigtrup agreed.

Plaintiff's Motions for Amendment for Modification Order (Rule 52 (b), to open the Judgment for a formal hearing (Rule 59 (e), and for relief from the Modification Order (Rule 60 (b), after oral argument, were denied, excepting that the Court's Order granting Defendant both children as income tax deductions, was amended to one deduction for each party.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE LOWER COURT'S MODIFICATION ORDER IS BASED

ON A MISAPPLICATION OF LAW RESULTING IN PRE-

JUDICIAL ERROR AND REPRESENTS A CLEAR ABUSE OF

DISCRETION.

We have searched in vain for a precedent where any Court has upheld a reduction in support payments on the grounds of circumstances based on the father's re-marriage, plus his three-fold increase in income.

24 Am. Jur. 2d Divorce, Sec. 849-Remarriage of Parent.

"The fact that the father has remarried, thus increasing his expenses, is not a ground in itself for reducing child support...."

In the Annotation is a quote from Gamblin -vs- Gamblin (Ky) 354 SW 2d 504:

"A father's first duty is the support of his children. They are to be given preference over new automobiles and new wives."

But we need not go to other jurisdictions as this Court has consistently followed the above rule.

Garmer -vs- Garmer (66) 17 Ut.2d 393, 412 P.2d 922, this Court refused to reduce support payments where the father had re-married and had two children by that marriage.

Heltman -vs- Heltman, 29 Ut.2d 444, 511 P.2d 720 again holds that re-marriage, and the additional financial burden, does not qualify as a change of circumstances.

Harris -vs- Harris (1963) 14 Ut.2d 96, 377 P.2d 1007, this Court states at P2d 1010:

"We deem it appropriate to observe that the various excuses offered by the Defendant for failure to contribute to the support of his children; that he has remarried and has numerous expenses, including the operation of a car; the repayment of a loan to his sister; his clothing, laundry and barber expenses, however necessary they may be, are not more so than the needs of his children; and were to considerable extent taken on subsequent to that responsibility." (Emphasis added.)

Callister -vs- Callister (1953) 1 Ut.2d 34, 261 P.2d

"Plaintiff's Counsel (asserts) that voluntary impoverishment is not a ground for reduction in alimony. With the latter statement we agree. ..."

Scott -vs- Scott (1943) 142 Pac. 2d 198, this Court refused to accept, as a change of circumstances, the fact that the Defendant had remarried, and had a child by that marriage as well as stepchildren to support.

King -vs- King (1970) 25 Ut.2d 163, 478 P2d 492, wherein the Defendant had remarried a woman with four children, this Court states:

"It is not disputed that this taking on of a new family obligation is subordinate to his prior obligation to the Plaintiff."

In the case at bar, the Defendant, at the time of the divorce, anticipated that his earnings would increase. They did. The Decree, to which he had previously stipulated, provided that he would pay support for his two children of \$200.00 per child when his take-home earnings reached \$800.00. He voluntarily remarried, and attempted to place his "new family" above his obligation to his sons, and became \$1,200 delinquent in support payments, for which Judgment was rendered.

The Lower Court erred as a matter of law, in granting a modification in favor of Defendant.

POINT TWO

DEFENDANT MAY NOT BENEFIT FROM PLAINTIFF'S
INDUSTRY IN HER EFFORTS TO SUPPORT HERSELF AND
THE CHILDREN.

Plaintiff, who was age 50 at the time of the divorce, and had not been employed during the marriage of 17 years, deserves considerable credit for seeking and securing employ-

\$900.00 at the time of the Modification "Hearing". Her take-home pay, however, was a meager \$769.00. (R-64,78)

Judge Rigtrup disallowed as a deduction, however, the \$10.00 per pay period for savings -- and this, despite the fact that she had no alimony, no social security, or retirement benefits built up from the marriage.

Osmus -vs- Osmus (1948) 198 P.2d 233, this Court states at Page 235.

"The fact that Plaintiff received \$5,000.00 for the equity in the home did not excuse the Defendant from complying with the order of the court. The existence of independent means might be a factor to be considered by the court in fixing alimony, or in considering a petition for modification of a decree, or perhaps, under certain circumstances, in mitigation of punishment for contempt. But no discretion is left, to a divorced husband, to determine whether he should or will comply with an alimony decree. So long as such decree stands, it is incumbent upon him to comply with it, or at least to exercise every reasonable effort to comply with it. If because of change in the circumstances of the parties it appears that the decree is inequitable, or impossible to comply with, he may petition for modification. But so long as that decree stands, the husband must comply with it, or make every reasonable effort to do so, and this is true regardless of how the financial situation of his former wife may have improved.

In Holbrook -vs- Holbrook (Utah) 308 P.2d 1113, this Court States at (Pg. 1115):

"It would seem strange to permit the husband and father to force her into such a situation, then take advantage of it to escape his liabilities without some change for the worse in his ability to meet his obligations." (Emphasis added)

POINT THREE

THE LOWER COURTS ALLOWANCE TO DEFENDANT OF ONE DEDUCTION FOR INCOME TAX PURPOSES, WAS WITHOUT ANY BASIS IN THE EVIDENCE AND CONTRARY TO THE COURT'S OWN FINDINGS OF FACT.

Paragraph 4 of the Findings states: (R-88)

"The Plaintiff's current monthly expenses for her support and that of the two minor children of the parties is \$896.35."

Paragraph 7 further finds:

"The sum of \$175.00 per month per child, plus maintaining health and accident insurance for the minor children, plus paying for drugs and medication for the minor child, Thomas, constitutes more than 50% of the necessary monthly support for the minor children."

There was no sworn testimony, or any other evidence as to the cost of the insurance, or the amount paid for drugs and medication, and the Lower Court made those Findings without any evidence whatsoever. Aside from that, the Court's Findings in Paragraph 7, is not supported by simple arithmetic.

Certainly, it is only logical and equitable to find that if the Plaintiff must pay \$900.00 per month to maintain a home for herself and two children, plus utilities, food, clothing, and the like, that one-third of that sum should be allocated to each, or \$300.00 per child. That, obviously, is double the amount the Court found exceeded 50% of the monthly support for each child.

CONCLUSION

The Modification Order, reducing child support payments, should be reversed, and the terms of the Decree reinstated.

The Order allowing one deduction to Defendant for income tax purposes should also be reversed, and the provisions of the Decree, as amended, allowing Plaintiff both deductions should also be reinstated.