1981

Hope H. Openshaw v. Richard Creed Openshaw : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANT HAS NOT ESTABLISHED FACTS
OR GROUNDS SUFFICIENT FOR THIS COURT TO
OVER-RULE THE FINDINGS OF THE COURT BELOW

This action was heard below as an equitable matter upon cross petitions for modification of a Divorce Decree entered three years before. The appeal from a Divorce Decree or from the modification of a Divorce Decree is an equitable matter. King vs. King, 25 Utah 2d 163, 478 P.2d 492 (1970). An equitable appeal to the Utah Supreme Court is reviewed by the Court de novo. Utah Const. Art. VIII, § 9; Foreman vs. Foreman, 111 Utah 72, 176 P.2d 144 (1947).

A de novo review on appeal by the Utah Supreme Court is not a new trial but an appellate proceeding based upon the district court's record. Foreman vs. Foreman, *ibid.* In such a review this Court is not bound by the Findings of Fact of the lower court; this Court makes an independent study of the record, weighs the evidence and exercises its own independent judgment. Harding vs. Harding, 26 Utah 2d 277, 488 P.2d 308 (1971).

In such an equitable review, the Findings of Fact of the Court below are presumed by the Supreme Court to be valid and correct due to the trial judge's advantageous position, having heard and seen the evidence first hand. Harding vs. Harding, ibid.

The burden is on the Appellant to show that the Findings of Fact of the Court below are in error. Harding vs. Harding, ibid.

The Supreme Court in this case and in all similar cases must review all of the evidence presented in the light most favorable to the lower court's findings. Ross vs. Ross, 592 P.2d 600, 602 (1979-Utah); Carter vs. Carter, 584 P.2d 904, 906 (Utah 1978); Watson vs. Watson, 561 P.2d 1072, 1074 (Utah-1977); Baker vs. Baker, 551 P.2d 1263, 1265 (1976); Harding vs. Harding, 26 Utah 2d 277, 279, 488 P.2d 308, 310 (1971); Stone vs. Stone, 19 Utah 2d 378, 380, 431 P.2d 802, 803 (1967).

Viewing the evidence presented in the Court below as set forth in the Statement of Facts and established by the record on appeal in this case, this Court cannot rule that the lower court's findings were in error.

This Court should not disturb the findings of the Court below simply because this Court might have viewed the matter different. This Court may disturb the findings of the Court below only if this Court can find that:

- a) the evidence clearly preponderates against the trial court's findings; or,

b) there has been a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error; or,

c) there has plainly been such an abuse of discretion that an injustice has resulted.

Ross vs. Ross, *ibid.*; Carter vs. Carter, *ibid.*; Watson vs. Watson, *ibid.*; Baker vs. Baker, *ibid.*; Harding vs. Harding, *ibid.*; Stone vs. Stone, *ibid.*

The Appellant has not made a prima facie showing in her brief that any of the circumstances exist as set forth above, which would allow this Court to disturb the findings of the Court below. The Appellant has not met her burden in this appeal.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO THE COURT BELOW CLEARLY SUPPORTS THE FINDINGS

The evidence submitted to the Court below clearly supports the findings of the Court and justifies the ruling of the Court.

The evidence presented in the record at the time of the hearing as to the income and expenses of the parties is as follows:

INCOME OF PARTIES AT THE TIME OF THE DIVORCE March 4, 1977

Appellant, Mrs. Openshaw	NONE
(T.R. pp.12-13; p.40)	Unemployed
Respondent, Mr. Openshaw	\$475. net per month
(T.R. p. 28)	

MINIMUM MONTHLY EXPENSES OF APPELLANT, MRS. OPENSHAW

January, 1977

Appellant, Mrs. Openshaw \$550.67

(T.R. pp.12-14)

Respondent, Mr. Openshaw no findings

INCOME OF THE PARTIES AT JULY 5, 1977

Appellant, Mrs. Openshaw \$571.20 net per month

(T.R. p.40)

Respondent, Mr. Openshaw No finding

INCOME OF THE PARTIES ON MARCH 28, 1980

Appellant, Mrs. Openshaw \$769.02 net per month
plus child support from
Respondent

(T.R. p. 64; pp.74-75)

Respondent, Mr. Openshaw \$1,209.46 net per month

AVERAGE MONTHLY EXPENSES OF PARTIES ON MARCH 28, 1980

Appellant, Mrs. Openshaw \$896.35

(T.R. p. 64; p. 126)
for self and two children
of the parties

Respondent, Mr. Openshaw \$1,142.73

(T.R. p. 73; p. 126)
for self, current spouse
and step-daughter

includes partial child
support from Respondent to
Appellant-Average \$226.51

CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATION OF RESPONDENT

DIVORCE March 4, 1977 \$200. total per month plus
insurance and prescription
drugs

(T.R. p.32)

MODIFICATION HEARING March 28, 1980

(T.R. pp. 79-80) \$400. total per month
plus insurance and
prescription drugs

Examining the past and current incomes, expenses and
situations of the parties as set out above, this Court cannot

say that the findings and ruling of the Court below, were not justified and supported by the evidence.

Based upon the evidence as set forth above, the Court:

- a) Reduced child support for the two teenage boys from two hundred dollars (\$200.) per month each to one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175.) per month each; and,
- b) Allowed the Respondent to claim one of the boys, the oldest as a dependent for income tax purposes.

There was a substantial change in circumstances of the parties and modification of the Decree was in order. Based upon the evidence presented the Court below made two minor changes; child support was reduced by a total of 12.5% and Respondent received a tax deduction for the oldest boy that will benefit the Respondent for three years until the child reaches 18.

Based upon the evidence in the record the actions of the Court below were not an abuse of discretion. The evidence and findings of the Court below as to the improved situations of both parties supports the action of the Court in a minor reduction of support and the awarding of the tax dependency claim for a period of three years. Such a minor change in the Decree cannot be said to be an injustice in light of the changed circumstances of the parties.

POINT III

THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY UNDERSTOOD AND APPLIED THE LAW IN THIS CASE

The amount of a child support award can be increased or decreased if there has been a substantial change in the

circumstances of the parties involved. Kessimakis vs. Kessimakis, 580 P.2d 1090 (Utah 1978); Russell vs. Russell, 551 P.2d 231 (Utah 1976); Gardner vs. Gardner, 111 Utah 286, 177 P.2d 743 (1947); Buzzo vs. Buzzo, 45 Utah 625, 148 P. 362 (1915). The District Court has continuing jurisdiction after it has rendered a divorce decree to modify or issue new orders with respect to child support. Dehm vs. Dehm, 545 P.2d 525, 527 (Utah 1976); Utah Code Annotated §30-3-5 (1953 as amended). The person seeking the modification of the decree has the burden of showing a significant change in material circumstances so as to justify court action in modifying the original award. Auerbach vs. Auerbach, 571 P.2d 1349, 1350 (Utah 1977); Sorensen vs. Sorensen, 18 Utah 2d 102, 417 P.2d 118 (1966).

The Court below received evidence showing a substantial change in material circumstances of the parties. The health of the minor child Thomas had improved such that the Appellant could work. The Appellant who had been earning nothing at the time of the divorce now had a substantial income. The Respondent's employment which had been in flux had now stabilized. The Respondent had remarried and was now legally obligated to support his step-daughter. The Respondent was now employed at Kennecott Copper Corporation and had group health and accident insurance through Kennecott Copper for the benefit and protection of his two teenage children. The Appellant had voluntarily increased her house payments from two hundred twelve dollars (\$212.) to three hundred forty-three

dollars and forty-five cents (\$343.45) per month.

The evidence presented to the Court clearly established a substantial change in material circumstances of the parties. The Court was then justified under the law in modifying the child support amount and allowing the Respondent to claim one child as a dependent for tax purposes. The support reduction of 12.5% and allowing tax dependency for three years is a minor alteration in light of the substantial change in the parties circumstances.

The Appellant emphasizes in her brief that the re-marriage of the Respondent is not grounds for modification of the Decree; that is the law in Utah. There were many other changes in circumstances as set forth above and a change in Utah law which justify the modification. If the only factor presented to the Court had been the Respondent's re-marriage, the Court should not have granted a reduction in child support; however, there were many other major changes which justified modification.

POINT IV

UTAH LAW CREATED AN ADDITIONAL SUPPORT OBLIGATION FOR THE RESPONDENT JUSTIFYING A MODIFICATION OF THE DECREE

Utah Code Annotated § 78-45-3 (1953 as amended) creates a statutory obligation for a man to support his wife when she is in need. Despite that statutory obligation, the Utah Courts have clearly stated that the re-marriage of a man with a support obligation from a previous marriage, is not in and of itself grounds to reduce the support obligation. Heltman vs.

Heltman, 29 Utah 2d 444, 511 P.2d 720; Harris vs. Harris, 14 Utah 2d 96, 377 P.2d 1007 (1963).

This Court said in Wright vs. Wright:

While this Court is sympathetic to the financial demands and burdens imposed on second-family situations, nevertheless, the undertaking to support stepchildren does not relieve the parent of his obligation to support his own natural children. Wright vs. Wright, 586 P.2d 443, 445 (Utah 1978)

The law in Utah as decided prior to 1979, was clear neither the re-marriage nor the undertaking of support for stepchildren was justification for reduction of child support. Prior to 1979, there was no statutory obligation for a step-parent to support a step-child.

The Respondent in the case at bar was divorced in 1977, and re-married prior to July, 1979. His new wife has a minor daughter. When he re-married the Respondent had no duty to support his step-daughter. On July 1, 1979, Utah Code Annotated, § 78-45-4.1 (1953 as amended), became effective and the Respondent was obligated by law to support his step-daughter; that section provides:

A step-parent shall support a stepchild to the same extent that a natural or adoptive parent is required to support a child.

The Respondent re-married and gained a step-daughter at a time when he was under no legal obligation to support the stepdaughter. After his re-marriage, the Utah Legislature created a new statutory obligation forcing the Respondent to support his step-daughter. The Respondent had no control over this new obligation created after he had re-married.

The Respondent did not voluntarily increase his financial burden. The obligation to support his step-daughter was thrust upon the Respondent by a legislature, a burden involuntarily forced upon him.

At the time of the hearing the Respondent was fully supporting his step-daughter as required by law. (T.R. p. 73).

Had the Respondent re-married after July 1, 1979, knowing that he would be legally obligated to support his new step-daughter, then such a voluntarily created new obligation should not be considered by the Court.

The involuntarily created obligation of the Respondent to support a step-daughter is much different from a voluntarily created financial burden such as re-marriage. The Court was justified in considering and allowing the newly created support obligation for the Respondent's step-daughter to be a factor in the reduction of the child support obligation.

POINT V.

THIS CASE WAS FULLY AND PROPERTY HEARD BY THE COURT BELOW

The Appellant in her Brief and in her Motions for Amendment of Modified Decree, To Open the Judgment for An Additional Formal Hearing and for Entry of an Amendment to the Modification of Decree, and Relief from the Court's Modified Decree (T.R. pp. 85-86) alleges that the hearing in the Court below was not a full hearing and was "informal"

such that the Court's ruling was not proper. The Court below granted both parties a fully opportunity to be heard and in fact granted the Appellant's request, re-opened the proceeding, received additional evidence, and granted an amendment to the Modification of the Decree. (See Appellant's Affidavit, T.R. pp. 93-99; and Order Granting Amendment, T. R. p. 107).

The Appellant's brief states that the hearing on both of the cross-petitions for modification was "limited by the Honorable Judge Rigtrup to an informal conference with the Attorneys, followed by a reported argument of Counsel, with the parties present. No sworn testimony was taken." (Appellant's Brief, Statement of Facts, page 2). The Appellant's Motions for Reconsideration by the Court (T.R. pp. 93-99) request a "formal hearing" by the Court, and states that additional material facts were "not clearly divulged to the Honorable Court, (and) were not properly allowed to be presented by formal testimony."

There is a transcript of a portion of the hearing on the cross-petitions for modification. (T.R. pp.125-123). That transcript reflects the argument of counsel, but is also reflects in part the evidence recieved by the Court by stipulation and by profer of counsel during the "informal conference" of counsel with the Court.

Prior to the reported hearing, counsel had discussed the case with the Court, had submitted financial statements of the parties and explained the positions of each side to

the Court. The financial statements of each of the parties are a matter of record. (T.R. p. 64; p. 73). The Court refers to those in the transcript and ask each of the parties if they are correct. (T.R. pp. 126-127). Those financial statements had been profered to the Court by respective counsel along with other information as to what each of the parties would testify if sworn. Those financial statements and information were accepted by the Court without objection or dispute from either counsel; those facts were proved as provided by Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The check stubs indicating the wages and income of the Appellant were similarly admitted into evidence. (T.R. pp. 74-75; pp. 126-127).

The Court requested counsel to profer into the record any additional information or evidence. The transcript states in part:

THE COURT: All right. Do you want to profer into the record the situation concerning what the respective circumstances were at the date of the last order in this matter concerning child support and monthly alimony?

MR. MIDGLEY: Yes, Your Honor.

(T.R. p. 127)

THE COURT: Are there any other circumstances that ought to be on the record, other than the two exhibits which contain the itemized expenses, as well as the income?

MR. BARNARD: Yes, Your Honor, I think so.

(T.R. p. 128)

Both counsel were allowed ample opportunity to profer

information and evidence and to argue their respective cases to the Court on the record.

The fact that an informal non-recorded conference had been held did not in anyway preclude the presentation of evidence by profer to the Court below on March 28, 1980.

Tha Appellant requested the Court to reconsider its ruling of March 28, 1980. In support of that request the Appellant submitted an Affidavit (T.R. pp. 93-99). The Affidavit was accepted by the Court and was considered on August 21, 1980. The Affidavit recited that allowing the Respondent to claim both children as dependents caused a net decrease in the Appellant's take-home pay in the amount of forty-eight dollars and twelve cents (\$48.12) per month. (T.R. p. 84). That evidence was considered when the Court amended the modification and allowed the Respondent to claim only one of the minor children as a tax dependent. (T.R. p. 107).

The Court granted both sides full opportunity to be heard both on and off the record on March 28, 1980, and to profer any information or evidence regarding the case. There was no objection by either parties' counsel to that procedure at that hearing. After the hearing, Appellant's counsel objected to the "informal" nature of the hearing and requested to be allowed to submit additional evidence, he was allowed to do so through the Appellant's Affidavit.

The extensive Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law adopted and entered by the Court (T.R. pp. 87-90) were not

"made out of whole cloth". Those Findings were based upon the evidence profered and received by the Court without objection.

The interest of judicial economy require that evidence be presented as expeditiously as possible. In this case it was done by stipulation and profer and without objection. When the Appellant raised questions as to the evidence that she was allowed to present, the Court accepted and considered an additional Affidavit with more evidence. The parties received a full opportunity to be heard twice in the Court below.

VII.

CONCLUSION

The Court below fully considered the evidence and arguments of both parties in the case. The evidence presented established a substantial change in material circumstances of the parties and justified the modification of the Decree of Divorce. The modification granted (a) a 12.5% reduction in child support and (b) allowing a tax dependency benefit for three years, was minimal. There was not sufficient grounds for this Court to disturb the Findings of the Court below the evidence in the record clearly supports the lower Court's Findings; the Court below understood and properly applied the law; and there has not been a substantial nor prejudicial error nor has there been an abuse of discretion by the Court below resulting in any injustice.

The decision and ruling of the Court below should be affirmed and the Respondent should be granted his costs on this appeal.